Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Ogden Valley Planning Commission for August 23, 2022. To join the meeting, please navigate to the following weblink at, https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84941789461, the time of the meeting, commencing at 5:00 p.m.

Ogden Valley Planning Commissioners Present: Trevor Shuman, Chair, Jeff Burton, Dayson Johnson, Jared Montgomery, Don Stefanik, Justin Torman, and Janet Wampler.

Absent/Excused: None

Staff Present: Rick Grover, Planning Director; Charlie Ewert, Principal Planner; Steve Burton, Planner; Felix Lleverino, Planner; Tammy Aydelotte, Planner; Courtlan Erickson, Legal Counsel; Marta Borchert, Office Specialist.

- Pledge of Allegiance
- Roll Call:
- Tribute to Jack Howell
- Thank you to Shanna Francis

Chair Shuman conducted roll call and indicated all Commissioners were present. He asked if any member had ex parte communications or conflict of interest to declare. Commissioner Wampler stated she will recuse herself from discussing or acting on any item related to Wolf Creek. Commissioner Johnson indicated he will recuse himself from participating in discussion and action on the Osprey Ranch project.

Planning Director Grover introduced a resolution recognizing Jack Howell for his service to Weber County and the Ogden Valley specifically, as a member of the Planning Commission from 2010 until his passing in 2022; he read the proclamation for the record, after which he recognized Mr. Howell's wife and daughters and presented them with a gift commemorating Jack's service. He expressed condolences on behalf of the Planning Staff. Ms. Howell stated that her husband would be so grateful for this recognition; she spoke to his love of his fellow Planning Commissioners, Planning Staff, and for the entire Ogden Valley.

Mr. Grover then stated that Ms. Francis was unable to attend tonight's meeting and her gift will be presented to her at a later date.

1. Training.

Planning Director Grover played a short video training including information from Brent Bateman, State of Utah Property Rights Ombudsman, regarding private property rights and land use planning.

Petitions, Applications, and Public Hearings:

2. Administrative items:

2.1 UVO011221 - Consideration and action on a request for preliminary approval of Osprey Ranch Subdivision Phase 1, a 31lot subdivision consisting of 283.78 acres, in the FV-3 zone. Located at approximately 1385 N Hwy 158m Eden, UT, 84310. Presenter Tammy Aydelotte.

Commissioner Johnson recused himself from participating in discussion and action on this application.

Planner Aydelotte referenced previous actions taken regarding this project, noting the final subdivision plat request consists of 31 lots, ranging in sizes from 3.12 acres to 18.57 acres. Lot widths vary from 100 feet to 1972.35 feet. This proposal consists of 283.78 acres, with two open space parcels totaling 30.20 acres, 1.27 acres of trail area, in Phase 1. Public roads, and paved trails within the dedicated right-of-way, are proposed throughout the development. Preliminary conditions of approval include:

- 1. A proposed final plat for Phase 1 shall be submitted prior to going before Planning Commission for recommendation of final approval.
- 2. There are lots within Phase 1 that show an average slope that exceeds 25%. As such, every lot with average slopes that exceed 25% shall either have a buildable area shown on the final plat, or a Geotech study shall be submitted for each of these lots. See Exhibit A for buildable area shown on lots 5, 6, and 16.
- 3. A Natural Hazard Notice shall be recorded with the plat, and a note on the final plat shall be required which states that the parcel is located within a natural hazard study area. See Exhibit A

She discussed staff's analysis of the application to determine compliance with the General Plan and zoning ordinances, after which she concluded staff recommends final approval of Osprey Ranch Subdivision Phase 1, consisting of 31 lots and two open space parcels. This recommendation for approval is subject to all review agency requirements and is based on the following conditions:

- 1. All improvements shall be installed, escrowed for, or a combination of both, prior to County Commission approval.
- 2. A Natural Hazard Notice shall be recorded with the plat, and a note on the final plat shall be required which states that the parcel is located within a natural hazard study area.
- 3. Signature blocks for Nordic Mountain Water and Wolf Creek Water and Sewer be included on the final plat.

This recommendation is based on the following findings:

- 1. The proposed subdivision conforms to the Ogden Valley General Plan.
- 2. With the recommended conditions, the proposed subdivision complies with the applicable County ordinances.
- 3. The proposed subdivision will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare.
- 4. The proposed subdivision will not deteriorate the environment of the general area so as to negatively impact surrounding properties and uses.

Chair Shuman invited public input from the applicant; the applicant indicated he had nothing to add to Ms. Aydelotte's presentation.

Commissioner Burton inquired as to the location of the stub road to the south. Ms. Aydelotte presented the plat to identify the location of the stub road. Chair Shuman also asked her to identify the location of the trailhead, which Ms. Aydelotte also did using the plat.

Commissioner Burton moved to grant approval of application UVO111221, final approval of Osprey Ranch Subdivision Phase 1, consisting of 31 lots and two open space parcels. This proposal also includes dedication of a new County roadway. Approval is based on the findings and subject to the conditions listed in the staff report. Commissioner Torman seconded the motion. Commissioners Burton, Montgomery, Shuman, Stefanik, Torman, and Wampler all voted aye. Commissioner Johnson recused himself. (Motion carried 6-0).

Petitions, Applications, and Public Hearings:

- 3. Legislative items:
- 3.1 ZDA 2022-01, public hearing to consider and take action on a request for approval of the 2nd amendment to the Powder Mountain Development Agreement to update concept area maps and to add language allowing staff and Planning Commission to approve minimal changes to area maps. Applicant Rick Everson. Presenter Steve Burton.

Planner Burton referenced the discussion that took place regarding this application on August 2, 2022; the Planning Commission advised that they did not want to remove maps as requested by the applicant. Staff met with the applicant to work on proposed adjustments to the development agreement document; the developer is no longer proposing any changes to the maps of the master plan document. The developer is proposing the following language to be added to the development agreement to allow administrative changes to the concept and land use maps of the master plan document:

"Weber County shall retain the right to approve or deny more specific/detailed Concept Development Plans for Areas A through F. The concept development plans shall be approved prior to or in conjunction with the first application for site plan or subdivision approval within each development area.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Developer and County acknowledge that the Land Use Plans and concept maps in the master plan document (i) are conceptual in nature and may be further refined by the parties, and (ii) that specifics regarding locations of roads, building area and product types (e.g. multi-family, mixed-use, single family, corporate retreats, etc.) may be moved within the areas generally depicted as A through F. Unit density for each Area (A through F) is fixed and may not be transferred between Areas. Concept Development Plans for each Area are expected to evolve and be presented in phases in the context of a more detailed master plan for each Area. County approvals for these Concept Development Plans will be reviewed and considered by the Land Use Authority and may not require amendment of the ZDA or Land Use Plan at the discretion of the Land Use Authority. Any proposed changes that the Land Use Authority deems are not slight and inconsequential shall be submitted by Developer in the form of a zoning development agreement application and shall be reviewed by the legislative body."

August 23, 2022

Staff has analyzed the request and feels benefit to this proposal is the flexibility it offers the developer in platting streets and subdivisions. By not indicating exactly what each area will look like at build out, the developer would receive flexibility as development occurs. This flexibility is necessary to the developer because their development market may change over time and may call for slight changes to each development area. The developer's proposed changes to the text of the development agreement would solidify this flexibility and allow the land use authority the ability to approve slight and uncontested changes to each development agreement, the Planning Commission and County Commission may consider, but shall not be limited to considering the following:

- 1. Public impacts and benefits.
- 2. Adequacy in the provision of all necessary public infrastructure and services.
- 3. Appropriateness and adequacy of environmental protection measures.
- 4. Protection and enhancements of the public health, welfare, and safety, beyond what is provided by the existing land use ordinances.

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission regarding ZDA 2022-01. This recommendation is based on the following findings:

- 1. The amendment is not detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare.
- 2. The proposal will not deteriorate the environment of the general area so as to negatively impact surrounding properties and uses.
- 3. The agreement was considered by the Legislative Body, in conformance with Chapter 102-6 of the County Land Use Code.

Chair Shuman invited input from the applicant. Rory Murphy, representative of Powder Mountain, stated his understanding is that the proposed adjustment to the development agreement would require map changes to come before the Planning Commission, which could then determine if the change can be handled by Planning Staff or if a Planning Commission action is necessary. Chair Shuman stated there are two scenarios that are being considered and the final decision will be made by the County Commission. Planning staff is recommending that the term "Land Use Authority" be changed to "Planning Commission".

Legal Counsel Erickson stated that he has contemplated any requirement for adjustments to the Plan to go through a legislative process if such adjustments are not allowed in the original development agreement. He has made minor edits to the document to address that matter and he cited his changes to the agreement text that was included in Mr. Burton's staff report. The most significant change is in the sentence starting with County approvals and reads: "County approvals for these concept development plans will initially be reviewed and considered by the Land Use Authority. Proposed changes that the Land Use Authority determines are slight and inconsequential, including the details of road locations, building areas, and product types shall not require amendment of the ZDA, and the Land Use Authority is hereby designated as the approving authority for those changes." An additional change indicates that "Any proposed changes that the Land Use Authority deems are not slight and inconsequential shall be submitted by Developer in the form of a zoning development agreement application and shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission and the Legislative Body, following the statutory process for legislative amendments to a development agreement."

There was brief discussion regarding the definition of Land Use Authority, with Mr. Burton noting that the Planning Commission can make a recommendation to the County Commission that the Land Use Authority for these matters should be the Planning Commission.

Commissioner Burton moved to forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission for application ZDA 2022-01, 2nd amendment to the Powder Mountain Development Agreement to update concept area maps and to add language allowing staff and Planning Commission to approve minimal changes to area maps, using the language read for the record above by Legal Counsel Erickson and changing "Land Use Authority" to "Planning Commission"; motion is based on the findings and subject to the conditions listed in the staff report. Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, Montgomery, Stefanik, Shuman, Torman, and Wampler all voted aye. (Motion carried 7-0).

3.2 ZMA 2022-01: Public hearing to consider a zoning map amendment to rezone property from RE-15, RE-20, FR-3, O-1, F-5, and AV-3 to the Master Planned Development Overlay zone. Applicant is John Lewis. Presenter: Steve Burton.

Commissioner Wampler recused herself.

August 23, 2022

Planner Burton explained there are three areas that are proposed to be rezoned to the Master Planned Overlay zone. The developer refers to them as The Exchange, Eagle Crest, and Cobabe Ranch and is proposing to transfer existing density to these areas so that there is no increase in density units. The developer will use their existing entitlements from the wolf creek development agreement as well as other entitlements outside of the development agreement. The Exchange will include 144 units, Eagle Crest will include 192 units, and Cobabe Ranch will include 101 units. A total unit count of 437. Out of these 437 units, the developer is proposing to transfer 80 units from outside of the Wolf Creek Resort and to include them in the Eagle Crest development plan. These units would come from the Ogden Valley Floor and the developer would not be able to plat these 80 units until they show the units have been successfully transferred in accordance with the land use code. The remainder of the proposed Master Planned Development units (357) come from the developer's existing entitlements. Out of the 357 units, 216 come from the developer's pot of units outlined in the Wolf Creek Resort development agreement (Entry # 2784398). These are known as Wolf Creek Resort entitlements. As part of the rezoning to MPD overlay zoning, the developer will enter into a development agreement with the County that clarifies that the hi-lighted units from E# 2784398 are now part of the MPD overlay and can no longer be developed elsewhere. The agreement will include maps of The Exchange, Eagle Crest, and Cobabe Ranch to show what will be developed.

Chair Shuman invited input from the applicant.

John Lewis approached and stated he looks forward to offering clarification to the Commission and public tonight in order to correct some misinformation that has been spread about this project. He discussed proper stewardship and planning of the village areas of the Ogden Valley. In 2016, the General Plan was adopted and there was a heavy focus on transfer of development rights (TDRs) aimed at preserving rural and open areas by moving density to appropriate/designated areas. Short term rentals are a valuable and positive use in certain neighborhoods, so long as there are appropriate covenants, conditions, and restrictions (CCRs) to regulate them. He then discussed his efforts to meet with homeowners in the area regarding his proposed project; he has adjusted his project plans responsive to feedback he has received from those residents and others in the Valley. He will limit nightly rentals to a three-night minimum and has adjusted the location of units to minimize the impact on adjacent properties/homes. He cited several residents and groups that he met with and worked with them to develop logical solutions to their concerns, namely related to the storage units in the project. He has spent hours with County Planning staff to review his amended development plans and emphasized that he is only shifting density and not increasing density.

Mr. Burton then used the aid of a PowerPoint presentation to summarize staff's analysis of the zoning application; he focused on compliance with the General Plan, which supports TDRs as the primary means of increasing densities in suitable project areas while proportionally decreasing density in other areas. He discussed agreement terms for Eagle Crest, in which the developer has proposed 120 condo units and 72 townhome units for a total of 192 units in this area. This means the developer needs to account for 102 units. The developer is proposing to transfer 22 units from the John Lewis pot of Wolf Creek Resort units and is also proposing to transfer 80 units from the Valley floor to Eagle Crest to be able to account for the 102. With the 90 original Eagle Crest units, the toral unit count is 192. Commissioner Montgomery asked if the areas from which the development rights are being transferred must be buildable area. Mr. Burton answered yes and indicated that is the case. He then moved the Cobabe Ranch area; this area consists of 33 single family residential lots between two and three acres in size with 150 feet of frontage. There are also proposed to be 17 four-plex townhomes (68 units) a total of 101 units. He noted 46 units exist from the existing zoning of the property, and 55 are proposed to be transferred from the John Lewis pot of Wolf Creek Resort units. Finally, The Exchange area will be mixed-use area with 144 units proposed. There will be 8 ten-plex buildings and 4 sixteen-plex units. 139 of these units come from the John Lewis pot of Wolf Creek Resort units. 139 of these units come from the John Lewis pot of Wolf Creek Resort units.

There is an area currently zoned O-1 that cannot, under the master planned overlay zone, be changed to the MPD overlay. This area is shown in red on the exhibit below and the developer will need to move the units and roads entirely outside of the current O-1 zoning. He then discussed architectural design of the project, which is being termed "Mountain Modern"; the developer has provided the following description of mountain modern for Planning Commission consideration:

- Building form has a low maintenance design with sharp, modern edges and a neutral color pallet
- Low pitched metal or flat roofs
- Exposed wooden timbers with wood and stone siding with an emphasis on texture
- Abundance of large windows to take advantage of the natural light and scenic views
- Balconies for indoor/outdoor living
- Low water use, xeriscape landscaping with native plants

August 23, 2022

He presented images and renderings provided by Mr. Lewis to illustrate the architectural design of the project. The developer is requesting approval of a cluster development; however, the Eagle Crest and Exchange development areas do not include enough pen space to meet the cluster requirements. The Planning Commission and County Commission may allow deviation from the requirements of the Code if they determine that the developer is implanting a meaningful element from the General Plan. He discussed open space, street configuration, general uses, and short-term rentals. He noted that the Eagle Crest development will prohibit short term rentals. The multi-family and townhome units in the Exchange and Cobabe Ranch development are proposed to have short term rentals permitted. The single family lots in Cobabe Ranch will prohibit short term rentals. Finally, regarding transfer of density, the 80 units that the developer will transfer from outside of the Wolf Creek Resort, the MPD overlay zoning ordinance states that an MPD overlay zone may be designated as a receiving area for transferrable development rights. The developer will be required to show that the right have been successfully transferred and retired from a sending area before they are allowed to plat the first 80 units. In reviewing a proposed development agreement, the Planning Commission and County Commission may consider, but shall not be limited to considering, the following:

- 1. Public impacts and benefits.
- 2. Adequacy in the provision of all necessary public infrastructure and services.
- 3. Appropriateness and adequacy of environmental protection measures.
- 4. Protection and enhancements of the public health, welfare, and safety, beyond what is provided by the existing land use ordinances.

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission regarding ZMA 2022-01. The recommendation is based on the following condition:

1. The O-1 area be preserved as O-1 and not rezoned to MPD overlay zoning.

This recommendation is based on the following findings:

- 1. The proposal implements a meaningful element from the general plan, specifically the transfer of density rights and providing important public street connections that allow for pedestrian and vehicle connectivity.
- 2. The agreement was considered by the Legislative Body, in conformance with Chapter 102-5 of the County Land Use Code.

Chair Shuman asked if this action would essentially extend the overlay zone that was originally approved in the General Plan. Mr. Burton reviewed the General Plan maps with the Commission to identify the subject property to orient them to their relationship to designated Master Planned Development Overlay areas. High level discussion among the Commission and staff centered on current and future street connectivity;

Chair Shuman spoke to his concerns about the TDR action associated with this application; the principle of shifting density is a good one, but it is appropriate to draw a line to regulate the areas that density can be shifted to. Mr. Burton clarified that this application does not take into consideration the creation of a new village. Mr. Lewis added that the type of development he is proposing is reflective of existing development in the area, which is a village. He is trying to build the area as permitted according to zoning, the General Plan, and responsive to the concerns that have been expressed by residents. He stated there are some areas of the project in which he could actually increase the density, but he has chosen not do that because of the feedback he has heard from residents. Commissioner Burton added that there is nothing in the General Plan that suggests a node cannot expand after it is established; as one node expands, others may shrink and based upon his understanding of TDR regulations, Mr. Lewis's proposal conforms to the General Plan. The node will be denser in the center and density will reduce at the outskirts of the development. Commissioner Stefanik stated that is incorrect and he referenced the cluster of townhomes in the Cobabe area that is near less dense land uses. Mr. Lewis stated that is the nature of villages and clustering. Commissioner Stefanik stated there will be a vast increase in density from the Valley Market up the mountain. That is not appropriate in such a rural area of the Valley. This led to philosophical discussion and debate regarding appropriate density for the area, with Commissioner Burton emphasizing that the property owners' rights should be recognized and respected; so long as his proposal is compliant with the General Plan and zoning regulations, it should be permitted. Mr. Burton stated that there is a map in the General Plan that identifies a future village node in the Wolf Creek area and the Cobabe area of Mr. Lewis's plan is actually included in that future planning area. Planning Director Grover indicated that map is contained on page 37 of the Ogden Valley General Plan. Staff does not feel this proposed development will inhibit the future development of the Wolf Creek village node area.

Chair Shuman opened the public hearing.

Kay Hogeland stated she lives in Eden in one of Mr. Lewis's existing developments and she is the president of the Wolf Creek Master Homeowner's Association (HOA). The applicant is not Wolf Creek resort, and the HOA has written a letter of opposition.

August 23, 2022

They were hoping to meet with Mr. Lewis to discuss the concerns they had and in a text message exchange last week, Mr. Lewis indicated that conversation would be a waste of time. Mr. Lewis refuses to be a part of the master CCRs for the Wolf Creek project. Today is the first time she has heard that STRs will not be allowed in the Cobabe area, and she feels that is preferential treatment for that area of the project. There are already hundreds of STRs in the development and the applicant has approval to build more. Mr. Lewis has indicated that STRs are not a problem so long as they are properly regulated, but she has opposing persuasive information about a STR that is in a HOA; the problem is the lack of enforcement resources on the part of the HOA. The HOA does not feel this is in the best interest of the entire project area. She then stated that she will address the Commission as a private resident, and she asked that they simply choose not to vote on the application this evening. She feels this application is being rushed and that is putting at risk two important values: precedent and the integrity of the planning process. She asked if there has ever been an up zone granted for green belt property because that is exactly what Mr. Lewis is requesting. It should take an extreme reason to up zone an area. She then referenced TDRs and wondered why density is being spread to the outer edges of the property rather than being concentrated in the center. She has heard people to say that the residents should trust the developer, but she feels he is seeking approval of something that benefits him but harms others. The Planning Commission deserves time to resolve the conflicts that have been presented. She understands the application was first filed in January, but it has laid dormant for six months and is now being rushed after a new filing last week. The public is concerned that the applicant was a member of the Commission when the application was first filed; there are three new Commissioners who have never heard anything about this project. She referenced Mr. Lewis's statement that he visited with other residents in the area, but all meetings were private, and many were not invited. She suspects the developer has made promises to those that have now expressed support for his project. The Commission should pay the same courtesy to residents and other stakeholders rather than only for the developer or those that support him. She stated there is no due process violation is the Commission chooses to table this item tonight.

Ken Miller stated he is an Eden resident and an attorney representing homeowners in the Trappers Ridge area; he has presented his findings of facts to Mr. Burton and tonight he will touch on just a few things. First, the applicant is requesting an up zone. With respect to Cobabe Ranch, he is increasing the number of units from 46 to 51. The 82 acre parcel adjacent to Trappers Ridge is zoned for 16 units and the applicant is proposing to build over 80 units. The General Plan indicates additional density will not /be allowed over what is allowed by the zoning for a given property. He has read Mr. Burton's report and he seems to be indicating this is a good use of TDR, but the General Plan does say the transfer of existing development rights is meant to increase density in suitable areas and decrease it in less suitable areas. In this case, the opposite is being done; the applicant wants to transfer rights to a less suitable area for a number of reasons, but one main problem is that it will transfer density from the core to the fringes. The subject property is next to an established neighborhood and the residents there bought into the project based upon their understanding of the development potential of the nearby raw ground. What this project will do is increase the rights of the applicant but dilute the property rights of neighbors and the adjacent parcels. He stated he met personally with Mr. Lewis to discuss the project and he did not want to discuss density; all Mr. Lewis wanted to discuss is how to make the number of units more palatable to existing residents. He briefly addressed architecture and design and Mr. Lewis has indicated they will be identical to what has been developed on the ridge. That is exactly what the area does not want. He then addressed Mr. Burton's comments about connectivity; the type of connectivity being contemplated will create a short cut road to Powder Mountain and that is exactly what people do not want because it will dramatically increase traffic through what has been a quiet neighborhood.

Miranda Menses stated she is the Chair of the Wolf Creek Water and Sewer Improvement District. She noted the figures provided by Mr. Burton and Mr. Lewis are good and well, but they do not take into consideration that there are already approximately 108 units in the area up Highway 158. The most telling statement from Mr. Lewis was that there is no available land in the central core area to place his units. The District owns two acres of land that has been set aside to protect a drinking water source, but on an adjacent property the County has approved an additional 48 units in a project called The Point; this brings the number of STR units to well over 850 in that area. She asked the Commission to consider the impact that 850 rental units can have on that space and then consider that Mr. Lewis's proposal will make the issue worse. The STR issue is very problematic for the entire State; in some areas, STRs are approaching 20 percent of the total housing stock and in the Ogden Valley, it is at least 10 percent in one area alone. It is critical that the County develop a STR ordinance to mitigate the problem; all developers are seeking approval of STRs and until the County can license and enforce the use in a meaningful way, it should be avoided. Existing residents should be able to enjoy their property and their neighborhoods without dealing with nuisances associated with STRs. She then noted she was told that there would never be TDRs in the Wolf Creek area; she realizes that is not exactly what is happening with this development, but since the TDR is occurring on the boundary of the Wolf Creek node, it is essentially the same thing. This is a matter of key concern to the water and sewer service providers as they are concerned about these projects infringing on the rights of existing residents to have access to service.

August 23, 2022

Ron Gleason stated he lives about 1/3 of a mile from where the Eagle Crest development would be constructed. He does not have problems with the proposal overall, but he is concerned about doing things out of order as far as development in the Valley. He suggested that villages are being created without having a cohesive plan for the area. This is the first time that this zoning ordinance will be used since its adoption, and he suggested the Commission proceed with caution. He read from the ordinance, section 104-27-5(b), which reads that if a master plan contains over 100 residential units, the County Commission may also approve other uses not allowed in the underlying zone. This means that at some point in the future, it may be possible that the developer will get approval for storage units in the project area. The Commission must consider any potential unintended consequences of approving this application. He added that sub-item c of the same code section addresses STRs, and this is the first time he has seen something in County Code that addresses regulations for STRs, and it is important that the Commission consider whether the proposal meets those regulations. He then addressed the new 4100 North road in Eagle Crest; he feels this is a good opportunity but will be a large change in the area. This road is not included in the transportation plan for the Valley, and he feels that a traffic study must be done to determine the impact of the new road for existing residents and visitors to the area as well. He stated that the architectural design is a copy of the Moose Hollow development; these have large windows that will create a great deal of light in the area.

Barbara Wolf stated she lives in an area abutting the subject property; she agrees with Mr. Lewis that good stewardship is important and that is exactly why the County has a General Plan for the Ogden Valley; in the General Plan, Cobabe is zoned in a particular way that allows for 46 units, not 101. She objects to the road that connects the two properties because it will lead to upwards of 400 cars associated with the townhomes travelling through Trappers Ridge. One might think the connectivity will benefit the area, but it only benefits those traveling to Powder Mountain as the road will be a short cut to them. Other concerns she has relate to inconsistency in the area in terms of land use planning, allowing STRs in certain areas and not others, and the review process regarding this application. The first time this application was discussed was in February and since that time there are new members of the Commission, and it is surely difficult for them to get 'up to speed' on the issues surrounding this area. She suggested the Commission follow the General Plan and allow the 46 units that are already permitted.

Larry Wolf stated he and his wife, Barbara, live in Trappers Ridge. He is also speaking for a neighbor of his who is travelling and was unable to attend this meeting; he wrote a letter, from which Mr. Wolf read for the record:

"I am a full time resident and my family lives in Trappers Ridge; we bought our home two years ago and moved to this location with the knowledge that the Ogden Valley General Plan would preserve the park area and not create a dense city. The up zone the Commission is considering is egregious and not only will it negatively impact the value of our home, it will create a significant change from the open landscape to one of the most densely populated areas of the entire Ogden Valley. Construction trucks are already accessing the site off of Big Horn Parkway and driving through out neighborhood. My family and I are against taking value away from ourselves and our many wonderful neighbors at Trappers Ridge to give it to one developer; when we purchased our forever home, it was with the understanding that both adjacent to as well as the parcels surrounding us were supported by the merits of which the Ogden Valley General Plan was drafted, as well as current zoning. Moving zoning around significantly hurts one group of neighbors while benefitting the developer and their investors. I respectably submit the decision criteria mandates that the applicant's rezone proposal be denied with respect to Cobabe Ranch. The proposal is clearly not consistent with goals, policies, and objectives of the Ogden Valley General Plan and would have a huge impact on the adjacent Trappers Ridge property owners. Being both a member of the Trappers Ridger HOA and a full-time resident, I plead with you to reconsider allowing for this density increase."

Shawn Healy stated he lives in Eden and is on the Board of the Patio Springs HOA, which is located just south of the Eagle Crest development. One of the things the development diagram implies is the continuation of Patio Springs Drive to drain Eagle Crest. There are other roads in the area, but visitors will be directed to commute through Patio Springs. This will have a significant impact on the existing residents. This action feels fairly hasty, and he asked that Patio Springs Drive not be extended into the Eagle Crest project; there are other opportunities for traveling through and around the area.

Larry Irvine, Nordic Valley, commented on Mr. Lewis's assessment that the 10,000 units projected to built in Ogden Valley 'have to go somewhere'; he has heard this mantra repeated by Mr. Lewis and other planners in Weber County in the past, and it is usually to justify uncomfortable densities and the imposition of TDRs on the area. This number is coming from flawed population projections included in the 2016 General Plan and they have been exposed by the 2020 census data; projections included in the Plan ended up being 50 percent higher than what occurred in the census. In other fields, a 50 percent error would result in projections and subsequent decisions being scrapped. The 10,000 number already includes about 5,300 units already approved, but unbuilt, in the Snow Basin and Powder Mountain areas. The number of actual new units needing placement in the Valley is

August 23, 2022

less than half of the 10,000 number. He stated this should be taken into account in the future as the Commission is considering similar applications.

Denise Trella stated she lives in Fairway Oaks and she is having major issues with water coming from storm drains and culverts into her property and home; she has burnt through three sump pumps and has experienced flooding that is costing her upwards of \$70,000. This project will result in the diversion of more water to her property and even if she performs mitigation efforts now, they will not be sufficient in the future. She has been appealing to the County Engineering Division since last October and has been waiting on storm water mitigation plans and development agreements, but water will start flowing again soon and will not stop until June and she expects her basement will become flooded again.

Debra Mottelmock stated she lives in Eden, and she is also concerned about property rights; she agreed that if someone owns a property, they should be able to do what they want with it, but Mr. Lewis bought the property knowing what it was zoned for, and he helped to develop plans for the area. Those plans should not be changed now.

Kiersten Heely stated she also lives in Patio Springs, and she has three concerns about Eagle Crest. First is the safety of the roads in and around the development; Patio Springs Drive is already very narrow and runs through a densely populated area. It is one of the few year-round residency neighborhoods left in the Valley, but it is surrounded by STRs, and he is concerned about an increase in traffic on narrow streets. She stated she is also concerned about the increase density associated with the TDR action; the transfer should not be going from the resort zone to another area of the Valley. Her thirds issue is related to clustering; she does not see how the current proposal conforms with the General Plan guidelines pertaining to clustering and it does not benefit the area. Placing a large condominium development on stop of quality single-family neighborhoods will be detrimental to the community.

Collin Herrick stated he lives in Eden and is a lifetime resident of the Ogden Valley; one thing he is concerned about relating to large multi-family developments in the Valley is where they will get their water from. There has been discussion about converting agricultural water to culinary water, but this year Eden ran out of agricultural water in August. Second is the light pollution and impact in dark sky areas associated with the amount of light coming from these units. He asked what mechanism will be put in place to ensure that land that is subject to the TDR action will not be developed in the future.

Brandy Hammond asked where the TDRs are being transferred from. She noted that allowing high density near Trappers Ridge is a strong deviation from the General Plan. She owns the mountain luxury lodge that sits west of the proposed core, and she agrees with the applicant's plan to place high density in that area, but there is a driveway that abuts her parking lot, and she would like to know the purpose of that driveway. She has not been able to find a final, adopted TDR ordinance on the County's website and she asked if one has been acted upon formally.

There were no additional persons appearing to be heard.

Commissioner Johnson moved to close the public hearing. Commissioner Montgomery seconded the motion. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, Montgomery, Stefanik, Shuman, Torman. (Motion carried 6-0).

Chair Shuman invited Mr. Lewis to respond to any comments made during the public hearing.

Mr. Lewis noted that the reason he did not try to talk to the residents in the Patio Springs neighborhood because that neighborhood does not connect to Eagle Crest. The Patio Springs Road runs through the Fairways project, but Eagle Crest is very clearly cut off from Patio Springs, Fairways, and Eagle Ridge. The only way to access Eagle Crest is 4100, rather than Patio Springs Drive. He then referenced the comment about the 10,000 units identified in the General Plan; that is based upon acreage and zoning and has nothing to do with the census. The General Plan calls for moving some of those units from the Valley floor to more dense village areas. He understands that people currently living in a village area do not want to see growth around them, but that is what has happened over and over again in many areas of the Valley.

Chair Shuman asked Mr. Burton if he had any additional information to provide. Mr. Burton stated that he would typically respond to misinformation provided during the public hearing, but many of the comments made are policy decisions on which staff should not be advising. He added, however, that there were comments about the availability of water or sewer infrastructure to serve the project area; he noted that the County's zoning ordinance does not require an applicant to provide water or sewer feasibility letters at the time of rezone of a property. That is required when a development is being platted. The action before the

August 23, 2022

Commission tonight is a zone change and the Commission should consider whether it complies with the General Plan and zoning ordinances. He added the General Plan does call for TDR actions to areas that are suitable and that is a determination to be made by the Planning Commission and the County Commission; staff felt that the subject properties were suitable for TDR actions. He then referenced comments about the additional light that will be created by the project; it will be necessary for the applicant to comply with dark sky ordinances before receiving a certificate of occupancy for any unit. He addressed traffic and noted that the Commission can recommend that a traffic study be conducted prior to final approval of this application. He concluded this is a legislative decision and the Commission has discretion in deciding whether to recommend approval or denial. He noted the applicant is not entitled to receive the zone change, but he is entitled to ask for one.

Commissioner Burton asked Mr. Burton to provide an explanation of the difference between the General Plan and a master plan for a project. Mr. Burton stated the General Plan is a document adopted by the legislative body of an entity; the State law mandates the County have a General Plan that guides future development. A master plan is a document that applies to a specific piece of property and is typically proposed with a rezone. The General Plan is general in nature, but upon specific development of a given area or property, a master plan is more appropriate. Commissioner Burton state the General Plan discusses TDRs, and he asked if that is a presupposition that zoning will change in the future as growth occurs. Mr. Burton stated that is correct and that is why the General Plan references areas to which development rights may be transferred. Commissioner Burton stated that it is important to recognize that zoning of a specific parcel is not static; rather, it is dynamic and can change as one transfers rights to a certain parcel. Mr. Burton stated that is correct; the General Plan anticipates that developers will try to buy development rights from a farmer interested in preserving their farm; those rights can be sent to a village area. It is unfortunate that some may have moved to a home next to raw ground with the expectation that would always be the case, but the General Plan includes information about a property owner's ability to request a zone change and TDR action to that property. Mr. Burton then discussed the process for considering a zone change accompanied by a development agreement; he feels a development agreement will be needed for this project and that will be negotiated if the zone change is approved by the County Commission.

Chair Shuman asked if the applicant would be entities to the STR land use if the zoning application is approved. Mr. Burton stated that he believes it would given that the applicant has offered that information and it was included in the staff report. Legal Counsel Erickson clarified that a motion on the zoning application would need to reference the STR land use if that were the intent of the Commission. Or, if that is a listed condition of approval, the staff memo must be referenced in the motion.

Commissioner Burton asked if the Master Planned Development Overlay Zone has been approved and the zoning ordinance exists. Mr. Burton answered yes. Commissioner Burton asked if STRs are a permitted land use in the zone. Mr. Burton answered yes, if the legislative body allows them. He added that the applicant has indicated the areas in which he feels STRs would be allowed but noted they would be restricted to three-day minimum rentals. Planning Director Grover suggested that be part of a motion as well.

Commissioner Stefanik asked if STRs are typically governed/regulated by CCRs for an HOA. Mr. Burton stated that can be the case, but they are also governed by the County. Mr. Erickson added that Section 104-27-5(c) of the County LUC does provide guidance on STRs and appropriate locations for the use. This led to high level discussion regarding the distribution of STR uses throughout the entire project area included in Mr. Lewis's application.

Mr. Grover discussed the options available to the Commission this evening; if they are not comfortable forwarding a recommendation to the County Commission at this time because they feel they need additional information on specific items, they can table action on the application. Another option would be to forward to the County Commission with recommended conditions of approval in addition to those included in the staff report.

Commissioner Burton stated that according to the LUC section referenced by Mr. Erickson, STRs should not be allowed unless they are determined to advance the General Plan and he is trying to make the justification that the use in this case will advance the General Plan. Mr. Grover stated that is an accurate understanding and it may be appropriate for the Commission to ask for clarity on the STRs.

Commissioner Torman and Montgomery indicated that they also feel that the village boundaries for the area in which the subject property is located need to be finalized before this type of rezone application is acted upon; without boundaries, there is no direction on the manner in which this type of development can expand and still be included in the village. This led to debate of the current state of the village area and whether clear boundaries are needed. Mr. Grover suggested the Commission meet in a work session meeting to focus on the village concept for the Wolf Creek area, STRs, and the other implications of the zoning

August 23, 2022

application. Mr. Lewis stated that he feels a development agreement will address the issues that have raised tonight, and he suggested that all offers he has made regarding concessions in the project be included a motion as conditions of approval. This would 'lock-in' those commitments. He stated he is not opposed to discussing his proposal further in a work session, but he does not anticipate that much will change on the overall project layout. He has tried very hard to locate density in the most appropriate areas to help preserve and protect open space. He summarized the concessions that he has volunteered., including clustering, no nightly rentals in any area, compliance with dark sky ordinances, no commercial uses/storage units, three-night minimum rentals in the Cobabe area, relocation of the connection road, buffering around the perimeter of the property, emergency crash gate if allowed by the County. This led to philosophical discussion and debate among the Commission and Mr. Lewis regarding the importance of STRs in a resort area, with Commissioner Burton asking Mr. Lewis how he feels STRs will advance the General Plan in the Cobabe area. Mr. Lewis stated that STRs make certain projects more viable, and viability is a consideration of the General Plan. He stated he understands that some STRs create nuisances for a neighborhood, and he is fully supportive of the County's efforts to develop an ordinance that provides for meaningful enforcement of STRs.

The Commission then addressed Mr. Lewis's offer to install a crash gate; Chair Shuman asked why the County would not allow that in this project. Mr. Burton stated the gate would be installed on a private road and a second access is needed in order for the development to be approved. Street connectivity is important and called for in the General Plan. The Engineering Division will provide their input and recommendation in the next step of the development process.

In conclusion, there was a brief focus on the lot sizes in the Cobabe Ranch area.

Commissioner Burton moved to forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission for application ZMA 2022-01, zoning map amendment to rezone property from RE-15, RE-20, FR-3, O-1, F-5, and AV-3 to the Master Planned Development Overlay Zone, based on the findings and subject to the conditions listed in the staff report, as well as subject to the Eagle Crest Agreement terms included on page three of the staff report, which are:

- No storage or commercial zoning.
- No nightly rentals.
- Pushed density away from existing homes.
- No thru traffic with Eagle Ridge.
- Fully night sky compliant.
- Move higher density to north side of Fairways Drive.
- 18 (4-plex) town home buildings.
- 10 (12-plex) condominium buildings.

Additionally, the minimum stay for STRs in the Cobabe area be three days. There is an additional finding that the inclusion of STR land use in the project serves to advance the General Plan as the viability of the resort is enhanced by STRs. Commissioner Montgomery seconded the motion.

Chair Shuman stated that Mr. Lewis indicated that residents and other property owners have written letters of support for this application, and he asked if those were provided. Mr. Lewis stated that he has signed and provided to the County a memorandum of understanding (MOU) that communicates the concessions that have been made in this project. Chair Shuman suggested a friendly amendment to the motion to reference that MOU and the terms therein. He then stated that Mr. Lewis mentioned that he has pushed density away from existing homes by at least 1,000 feet and he asked if the maps included in the staff report sufficiently document that. Mr. Lewis stated that the footage is scaled, and some distances may be slightly less than 1,000 feet, but they are at least 920 feet. Chair Shuman suggested a friendly amendment to clarify that density shall be approximately 1,000 feet from Trappers Ridge and to include reference to the MOU in the motion. Commissioner Burton accepted the friendly amendment. The entire Commission consented to the friendly amendment.

Chair Shuman called for a vote. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, and Shuman voted aye. Commissioners Stefanik, Torman, and Montgomery voted nay. (Tie vote of 3-3).

Mr. Lewis stated that Commissioner Stefanik lives in Trappers Ridge, and he wondered if he should have recused himself from voting. Mr. Erickson stated that would be a decision for the entire Commission to make and he is happy to provide them with his advice if asked by the Chair. The standard rule is that a conflict of interest is having a director substantial financial interest in a proposal or having a family member who has a direct or financial interest, or if a member cannot be impartial. With legislative items, there is more leeway for members to participate and living in a certain area has not prevented participation in the past.

Chair Shuman polled the Commission to determine if they feel Commissioner Stefanik should have recused himself. The majority indicated they did not feel he should have been forced to recuse himself.

Chair Shuman then inquired as to the basis of the application given there was a tie vote on the motion. Mr. Erickson stated a tie is the same as the motion failing.

Commissioner Torman moved to table consideration of ZMA 2022-01, zoning map amendment to rezone property from RE-15, RE-20, FR-3, O-1, F-5, and AV-3 to the Master Planned Development Overlay Zone until the form-based village boundaries for the property area can be established. Commissioner Montgomery seconded the motion.

Commissioner Montgomery inquired as to staff's timeline for working to develop boundaries for that village area. Principal Planner Ewert stated that could take some time and he referenced the amount of time it has taken for formalization of the Nordic Valley village area.

Chair Shuman inquired as to the validity of the plan that identifies a boundary for the village area. Mr. Ewert stated that map is included in the zoning ordinance, and it identifies the existing boundaries of Old and New Town Eden, and generally the Wolf Creek area. The regulating plan has not been adopted yet, which will be handled by ordinance and could take some time.

Commissioner Burton stated he does not understand the concern about the boundary of the village area. Commissioner Torman stated that the General Plan does not clearly define with the village boundaries end; an applicant is proposing to rezone property and there is no clear rule about where increases densities must stop within the village. Commissioner Burton stated that each zone change application should be required to stand on its own merits and the form-based village boundaries should not be needed in order to act on this application. He stated it feels natural to him to allow the zone change because there is still a great deal of work to be done by the applicant and Planning staff through negotiation of a development agreement to regulate the project.

Chair Shuman agreed with Mr. Burton about the impact of waiting for the form-based village boundaries to be established and he suggested a friendly amendment to the motion to remove that requirement; he feels it is an undue burden. Commissioner Torman accepted the friendly amendment and indicated that tabling the application to allow for more discussion an upcoming work session will clear up many of the issues and concerns about the project. The Commission accepted the friendly amendment.

Chair Shuman stated that his feedback for the applicant to consider in advance of the work session includes the impact that transportation improvements/adjustments will have on the existing neighborhoods in the area. He also asked if it is possible to reduce the size of area subject to the zone change so it is not 'so much of an open book'.

Chair Shuman called for a vote. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, Stefanik, Shuman, Torman, and Montgomery voted aye. (Motion carried 5-0).

3.3 ZMA 2021-09: A public hearing to consider an application to rezone approximately 510 acres of land to the Form-Based Village Zone, otherwise known as the Form-Based Zone. Applicant is Skyline Mountain Base LLC. Planner: Charlie Ewert.

Principal Planner Ewert asked that the Commission first hear the presentation from the applicant, after which he will review his staff report.

Eric Langvardt, Skyline Mountain Base, used the aid of a PowerPoint presentation to facilitate a review of the proposed plan for this project. He focused on the public benefit of the project; reviewed the open space master plan – which included the location of public trails and amenities; the overall master plan, architectural precedents that have influenced the design of the project; project improvements and concessions made since the last review of the project; and the meetings that have been held with developers, neighborhoods, service provides, and Planning staff/Planning Commission. He expounded on the overall master plan; the concept plan includes 500 units on 60 acres, which is a very low density overall, but the majority of the residential uses are located in area C to allow for the rest of the area to remail open space. Taller, more dense buildings are located in the center or core of the development, and further out to the edge of the project area, development consists of detached single-family homes adjacent to the one-acre lots on the east side. He anticipates year-round residents will live in the townhomes and detached homes

August 23, 2022

on the perimeter of the project. He then identified the location of mixed use/commercial uses, the resort maintenance facility, day skier and retail parking, the Nordic Ski Center, the environmental purification facility, cross country and summer trails, boat house and pond, and the outdoor amphitheater. One goal for the project is to make it a year-round resort, and that is the contemplated in many of the amenities included in the concept plan.

Ronda Kippen, Land Planning Consultant for Skyline Mountain Base, then reviewed the history of the zoning of the subject property, dating back to 1971; the resort area doubled in size in the 1970's and zone changes occurred in the 1980's and 1990's to allow for higher density development around the resort area. The General Plan has also changed and evolved in that time and there has been an emphasis on supporting and expanding resort areas. She then noted that the applicant has participated in 70 meetings totaling over 150 hours to review this project with staff and residents since March of 2021; the input provided through these meetings has heavily influenced the project and has resulted in changes to the zoning designation being requested. She concluded the current proposal conforms with the General Plan.

Principal Planner Ewert then reviewed his staff report; he explained the applicant initially requested a Zoning Map Amendment (ZMA) to rezone approximately 510 acres in and around the Nordic Valley ski area from the FV-3, FR-3, CVR-1, and O-1 zones to a DRR-2 zoning classification. The DRR-2 zone does not currently exist so to accommodate the request the applicant further proposed to create one. However, at the request of Planning Division staff, the applicant withdrew their request to create, and be rezoned to, a DRR-2 zoning classification in favor of a rezoning to the newly created Form-Based (FB) Zone. Under this staffrequested scenario, the FB zoning ordinance need to be amended through a Zoning Text Amendment (ZTA) to add specific Nordic Valley area provisions prior to rezoning the property to the FB classification. This zone text amendment was recently adopted on August 16, 2022. Accordingly, this Zoning Map Amendment (ZMA 2021-09) application is being reviewed in accordance with the new provisions of the zone. The objective of this rezone request is to apply the zoning and regulatory framework designed to create cohesive neighborhood areas that are based on form and design themes. Through the Form-Based zoning allowances, the applicant will be able to transfer their development rights off of their land along the upper hillside and down into a village area at the base of the slopes. The memo referenced the applicant's Concept Development Plan and indicated this will result in the preservation of the hillside as open space for outdoor recreation and the preservation of natural landscapes and viewsheds. It is important to note that the proposed development is, in effect, a type of clustered development that focuses the developable footprint into a much smaller area than would otherwise be allowed if developing the land using traditional subdivision regulations. Another method of developing a clustered development on this land would be to utilize the existing cluster subdivision code. While the resulting clustered development derived from the cluster code on this land will indeed utilize a smaller footprint, the proposed rezone and master plan shrinks that footprint even smaller – leading to less effect on the environment, wildlife, drainage, and viewsheds to name a few. Another important point of consideration is that if the applicant utilizes the existing cluster subdivision regulations to develop the land, he is entitled to the exact same number of base density. However, most of the lower-sloped skiable base would need to be used for single-family housing, meaning the ski resort is likely to no longer exist, and less hillside open space could be preserved than in the current proposal The applicant for this request is two entities, Skyline Mountain Base LLC, and Nordic Valley Land Associates LLC. Each are represented by the same individual, Laurent Jouffray.

Mr. Ewert referred to the current zoning as a 'hodge-podge'; it is a mix of FV-3, FR-3, CVR-1, and O-1. The applicant is seeking approval of the newly created FB zone. He summarized staff's analysis of the application, which focused on a cost benefit analysis; Nordic Valley traffic impact study; water, storm water, and sewer analysis; zoning analysis; street regulation planning; density calculations; General Plan compliance; relationship to adjacent uses; workforce/moderate-income housing elements; traffic and roadway improvements; utilities; creation of a Master Ownership Association; and rezoning approval criteria.

High level discussion among the Commission and Mr. Ewert centered on allowed density in the project area and the amount of workforce housing that will be included; Mr. Ewert concluded many of the details of the buildout of the project will be determined through negotiation of the development agreement for the project so long as the terms are compliant with the zoning ordinance. There would be a deadline on the contract to hold the developer to the commitments they make in the agreement; this preserves legislative authority while also ensuring performance from the other party.

He concluded staff recommends that the Planning Commission forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission regarding File #ZMA 2021-09, a proposal to rezone approximately 510 acres from the FV-3, FR-3, CVR-1, and O-1 zones to the FB and O-1 zones. This recommendation comes with the following requirements to be negotiated and memorialized by means of a development agreement:

Recommended Conditions:

August 23, 2022

- 1. The rezone approval should be conditioned on the applicant voluntarily entering into a mutually negotiated development agreement. The agreement should include the conditions below.
- 2. The development agreement should extend for a period of no more than ten years to allow the applicant time to work through financing and the creation and connection of critical infrastructure required to secure subdivision approval. After 10 years, and unless the county sends the applicant a notice otherwise, allow the agreement to be similarly extended in five-year increments.
- 3. The development agreement should memorialize no less than 488 development rights (residential dwelling units), and assign them to the areas of the property zoned FB; 483 of them to be permanently assigned to the property being rezoned to the FB zone, and five to remain on the property that will remain in the FV-3 zone (together with a covenant that runs with the land restricting development of it to no greater than five units).
- 4. The development agreement should make it clear that no dwelling unit rights remain within the area being rezoned to the O-1 zone.
- 5. The development agreement should make it clear that each application for a subdivision phase should be submitted with a traffic analysis to help determine when the development's impact materially degrades the local street infrastructure's level of service classification, and it should prescribe proportionate share improvements or improvement costs to mitigate the project's contribution to the level of service degradation.
- 6. The applicant will provide sufficient workforce housing opportunities in the project as follows:
 - a. As buildings are constructed, provide floor area for workforce housing. Five percent, rounded up to the nearest full residential unit, of (and in addition to) the developer's total allowed market-rate residential units should be provided. The floor area should have utilities stubbed.
 - b. Each workforce housing unit should be no less than 300 square feet with a storage space that has dimensions no less than 4'x9'x8' for each unit in addition to the 300 square foot minimum.
 - c. 15,000 square feet of land should be reserved as up-front collateral to provide for or assist in providing for the development's workforce housing obligation. In the event other workforce housing strategies fail to fully materialize, this property will be donated to the Weber Housing Authority for construction of workforce housing or used by the housing authority to generate revenue for workforce housing nearby.
 - d. Prior to the county approving any building permits above and beyond 50 percent of the total allowed marketrate dwelling units, the floor area for at least 25 percent of the required unimproved workforce housing units shall be provided to the Weber Housing Authority.
 - e. Prior to the county approving any building permits above and beyond 75 percent of the total allowed marketrate dwelling units, the floor area for at least 50 percent of the required unimproved workforce housing units shall be provided to the Weber Housing Authority.
 - f. Prior to the county approving any building permits above and beyond 100 percent of the total allowed marketrate dwelling units, the floor area for at least 100 percent of the required unimproved workforce housing units shall be provided to the Weber Housing Authority.
- 7. The applicant should formulate a quasi-governmental management association or master HOA that serves as a primary point of village organization, operation, and maintenance. The formal tasks and responsibilities of this organization will be negotiated and memorialized through the development agreement.
- 8. The project should provide trails that are open and accessible to the public, including at least one stub on the northwest part of the property that connects to Forest Service property and one stub to the south to stub to Forest Service Property.
- 9. A lodge/restaurant should be allowed to be located at the top of a lift in the O-1 zone, which will require specific allowance in the development agreement.
- 10. If a multifamily building is constructed within 200 feet of the intersection of Viking Drive and Nordic Valley Way, the agreement should stipulate that it cannot be taller than 35 feet.
- 11. For the purpose of keeping construction traffic from interrupting the residential nature of the adjoining areas, the first improvements to be installed prior to any other construction onsite is a roundabout located at the intersection of Viking Drive and Nordic Valley Way, and a second roundabout on Nordic Valley Drive/Road in front of Parcel 220230125 that has stubs into the project to the south and into the property to the north for future street infrastructure.
- 12. The developer should be required erect temporary directional and informational signage for construction vehicles that:
 - a. Guide construction traffic to use only Nordic Valley Way for construction access from Highway 162.
 - b. Direct construction access to use the roundabouts to turn around; and
 - c. Prohibits project-related construction traffic from entering adjacent residential areas.
- 13. The developer should be required to construct two offsite wayfinding signs, as depicted on the Ogden Valley's Wayfinding Signage Plan. Specifically, the one located at approximately 3300 North and Highway 162, and the one located at approximately 3627 North and Highway 162.

August 23, 2022

14. The open space area and trails plan, as presented in the applicant's submittal, should be required in the same size, location, and general configuration illustrated on the plan.

Findings:

- 1. The proposal provides substantial advancement of the Ogden Valley General Plan's goals, principles, and implementation strategies for the Nordic Valley area.
- 2. The Ogden Valley General Plan provides for the transfer of density rights on this property. The proposal creates no new residential density than already entitled except that which is minimal and necessary to motivate the creation of workforce housing to support the development's activities.
- 3. The proposed rezone will promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the Weber County by advancing many public interests and returning substantial economic impacts.

Chair Shuman opened the public hearing.

Meg Loomis stated she lives in Nordic Valley, and she is concerned about density, though that seems to be a moot point in tonight's discussion; as far as she is concerned, the 108 units that will be transferred from the face of the mountain are invalid because that area is not buildable land. She understood that TDR actions had to involve buildable property and it seems that requirement is being skirted.

Mike Sorosky stated he lives very close to the subject property, and he is also concerned about the proposal. He is sure the Army Corps of Engineers would not allow building in drainage areas on the property, which means these areas are unbuildable and TDRs should not be permitted. He stated that there have been changes to the plan to appease the residents on Viking Way and upper Nordic Valley Way, but this resulted in the development being moved into his backyard. He would like to see the traffic study for the project; he has reviewed many traffic studies over the course of his career and sometimes they are not worth the paper they are written on. He stated the applicant indicated he has spoken with residents, but he has never been approached. The only person he has spoken with is Mr. Jouffray, who promised to immortalize their conversation in writing, but never delivered. He actually likes some of the things that are included in the project, but he is very passionate about how it will impact his property. Inconsistencies, ambiguity, and discrepancies are very disappointing to him, and they seem to be prevalent each time this project is discussed. He wondered if it would be possible for the Commission to see the development agreement before the zoning application is voted upon. He is bothered by the assessment of the number of residential units that must be built in the Valley and discussion about where those units should be pushed to. He is concerned and curious about the baseline for building heights in the project area; many different heights have been referenced and no one understands what the actual height will be. Finally, most recent plans identify a roundabout and shifting of roads that would result in his road being moved; he would like to know if that is a final concept because it will impact him personally.

Peggy Dillinbaker stated she lives on Nordic Valley Drive, and she discussed zoning of the subject property dating back to 1975; she found a letter from that year about a zoning application for F-1 zoning and change in zoning for the golf course property. The County communicated to her that the zone change for the golf course would be positive for her because that property would remain open space and would not impact her tax rate. Not only was she under the impression that the land would remain open space, so was the County. This has caused her to question the integrity of the County and public trust. Her concern is the same as what was expressed by many during the previous public hearing; they chose to live next to open space with no dwellings and not the rezone will change the property to something on the opposite end of the land use spectrum. This will allow commercial and heavy density and she would like to ask that the developer push the density towards the center of the project and as far as possible from existing residences. She is worried about workforce housing being built with just a five-foot setback from her property; this would be a dramatic change in their lifestyle. She asked that the Commission hold off on voting until some of the concerns can be addressed. The development agreement should be drafted, and determinations should be made about access to water and sewer services before a rezone is approved.

A resident, no name given, asked what constitutes a legal land swap; he stated that the applicant for the previous item was offering flat farm ground for his TDR, but this applicant is trying to swap ski slopes; this should not be considered open space for purposes of swapping. He referenced the 11975 letter cited by Ms. Dillinbaker and stated it is hard for anyone to plan for their future if commitments such as those communicated in that letter are not upheld.

Richard Snyder stated he lives in Nordic Valley and has been involved in planning that area; he and many others consider the entire Valley to be a resource. It is the Planning Commission's responsibility to help steer the development of the Valley for the

August 23, 2022

future. People who are concerned about these issues should seek to be appointed to the Planning Commission. He stated he is supportive of the project and feels the outcome will be great. Everyone should embrace the people coming to the community to perform good developments in a conscientious manner. If the Valley residents are not careful, they will scare off good developers.

Dan Mabey stated he owns property adjacent to the subject property and he will be impacted by the manner in which the formbased zoning has been crafted. There is a proposed road that will go through his property, which may be very helpful to the community, and he is considering opportunities for joining this development. He supports this effort and feels the developer has been very conscientious. They are trying to concentrate density in the most appropriate areas while preserving open space. He feels the application should be approved.

Bryan Moore stated he lives on Panorama Circle, and he has sent documentation to the Commission regarding public access to open space land; this is very important to many residents, and he asked that something be put into the development agreement to preserve permanent public access to the ski area road, open space, and three trailheads. He wishes to avoid unintended consequences that would impact that public access.

Larry Irvine stated he lives in Nordic Valley; during last week's County Commission meeting several residents spoke against this proposed rezone; one reason that was cited was past misrepresentation of public support for the project. He believes that false narratives have been presented and the public input in the 2016 General Plan process did not anticipate these types of projects or the extensive TDR actions on the mountainside. He stated that Mr. Ewert indicated the goal of TDRs is to take density off the Valley floor, but this application would address hillsides rather than the Valley floor. This project could permanent change the Nordic Valley area and he asked that the Commission not forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission; the developer should be directed to develop a ski resort in a manner that benefits the community.

Bruce Kewsick reiterated the need to preserve public access to open space and trail heads. He referenced a piece of property that is in the project area, but not owned by the developer and he asked if there is any change in the status of that property. He then stated the current permit is for a winter-resort, not a year-round resort and he wondered if the permitting should be changed. He also noted that the traffic study does not consider snow days and that should be adjusted. He applauded the changes that have been made to the application in the south village area.

Eric Von Arx stated he lives on Nordic Valley Drive and has commented several times. He stated this proposal does not comply with the form-based village zone; it destroys open space while the zoning calls for preserving open space. Trading mountain forest, which is non buildable, for one of the most coveted properties in the upper valley is unconscionable. No land is being protected in this project and once it is gone, it is gone. Open space should be preserved and if the project does not comply with the ordinance, the Commission must deny it.

Norm Lowe inquired as to various unit types that will be included in project and the number of people that will live in them; without that information, it is difficult to calculate water and sewer requirements for the project.

Bethe Austin stated her family lives on Nordic Valley Drive, and she does not mind if the Planning Commission ends this meeting now and is allowed to return to their families. She then implored the Commission to either table or reject this proposal. She also suggested the Commission rescind previous approvals because the current version of the plan does not comply with past approvals that have been granted. She then asked if the rezoning to form based zoning will be legally tied village-based proposal or if it will revert to previous zoning if the project does not go forward. She also asked if the development agreement will run with the land if, if not, why not.

Commissioner Montgomery moved to close the public hearing. Commissioner Wmpler seconded the motion. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, Montgomery, Stefanik, Shuman, Torman, and Wampler voted aye. (Motion carried 7-0).

Mr. Ewert addressed some comments and questions raised during the public hearing; his staff report includes a condition of approval that preserves public access to open space, but he will further modify that condition and include a provision in the development agreement that allows existing residents to 'ski-in' and ski-out' directly from their own properties. He then provided an explanation for the manner in which building heights are measured; the starting point is from finished grade, but no more than five feet of fill is allowed to ensure people are not falsely propping a building foundation. He addressed a question about the roundabout in the project and noted that it will not impact any private property; however, there are efforts to realign Nordic Valley Way to improve access to summer cabin properties in the area. He addressed the 10,000 building unit number that

August 23, 2022

continues to be referenced; this number is based upon existing entitlements according to current zoning. If these units are not transferred to areas where higher density is more appropriate, they can be built on the Valley floor and ultimately all open space will be consumed. He then stated that later steps in the process will include determination of the water and sewer infrastructure needed for the project; if the applicant cannot perform on those issues, the project will not go forward, and zoning will revert. The development agreement will run with the land even if ownership changes. He addressed Mr. Keswick's question about the random parcel of land that is not owned by the developer and noted that he is unsure the status of that property, but it is included in the project area. He stated that the average or residents per dwelling units will be used to calculate utility demands, with the understanding that the population of the area will fluctuate depending on the season. He added that the traffic study is a public document and available for review by anyone interested; as development continues, the applicant will be required to perform traffic improvements to address level of service matters.

Commissioner Wampler stated she did not see a condition of an approval for escrow to cover water/sewer treatment facilities. Mr. Ewert stated that the developer is working to address that matter and it will be handled in the development agreement. The applicant is working with the Community and Economic Development Department to create a tax district for new residents of the project to generate revenue to cover the costs of those facilities.

Chair Shuman invited additional input from the applicant.

Laurent Jouffray, applicant's resident, addressed the concept of removing density from a 350-acre parcel of the property in order to ensure that it cannot be built upon in the future. This will serve to preserve that open space, which is valuable to the Valley. He addressed the comments made about the open space preservation of the golf course; only a portion of the golf course will be used, and the rest will remain open space. He feels that the applicant is trying their best to perform a project that will benefit the area. He addressed building heights and noted that all construction will comply with the village-based zoning and the maximum height will be 50 feet. He stated that the applicant did not want to pursue workforce housing, but there was a requirement from the State to include such units and they will be used by hospitality businesses or other users of the resort; if the applicant could eliminate work force housing, they would gladly do so. He stated that there are 60,000 visitors to Nordic Valley each year and it is a family-oriented resort; this is an attempt to improve and expand the resort in a responsible manner and he asked that the Commission forward a positive recommendation for approval of the rezoning application.

Commissioner Burton stated that this seems to be the natural evolution of Nordic Valley; since moving to the Valley, he believes that each of the resorts in the Valley would grow and he feels that the current proposal fits with the goals of the General Plan. He feels the applicant has tried to make accommodations and adjust their plan responsive to the feedback they have received from residents, and he feels comfortable forwarding a recommendation to the County Commission.

Commissioner Wampler echoed the sentiment about the applicant's willingness to work with neighboring property owners; the proposal is very nice, and she likes the idea of improving Nordic Valley. However, her hesitation comes from the fact that the zoning ordinance was voted on just a week ago and the Planning Commission has not yet seen the final text. She would like to table this application until having the opportunity to view that text.

Commissioner Wampler moved to table ZMA 2021-09, an application to rezone approximately 510 acres of land to the Form-Based Village Zone, otherwise known as the Form-Based Zone. Applicant is Skyline Mountain Base LLC. Commissioner Stefanik seconded the motion. Commissioners Stefanik and Wampler voted aye. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, Montgomery, Shuman, and Torman voted nay. (Motion failed 2-5).

Commissioner Burton moved to forward a positive recommendation to the County Commission for application ZMA 2021-09, an application to rezone approximately 510 acres of land to the Form-Based Village Zone, otherwise known as the Form-Based Zone. Applicant is Skyline Mountain Base LLC., based on the findings and subject to the conditions listed in the staff report. Commissioner Montgomery seconded the motion.

Chair Shuman asked if there is anything that can be done to reduce the restrictions on workforce housing. Mr. Ewert stated that the Commission can make adjustments; the staff report simply documents the offerings of the applicant. Commissioner Johnson stated that the applicant's recommendations are based upon their understanding of the ordinance, and he would not recommend adjusting it.

August 23, 2022

Chair Shuman called for a vote. Commissioners Burton, Johnson, Montgomery, Shuman, and Torman voted aye. Commissioners Stefanik and Wampler voted nay. (Motion carried 5-2).

Commissioner Stefanik stated there are many things he likes about the project, but there are many unknowns and things he does not understand due to the fact that he has been a member of the Commission for less than 30 days. He is concerned about ingress/egress to and from the Valley for skiers and other visitors to the resort.

4. Public comment for items not on the agenda.

There were no additional public comments.

5. Remarks from Planning Commissioners.

There were no additional remarks from Planning Commissioners.

6. Planning Director Report.

Mr. Grover indicated he did not have anything to report.

7. Remarks from Legal Counsel.

Mr. Erickson had no additional remarks.

Meeting Adjourned: The meeting adjourned at 11:18 p.m. Respectfully Submitted, *Cassie Brown*

Weber County Planning Commission